THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

2012-212952

Moshtaba Vedad

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
APR 25 2013
SC Court of Appeals

Allan R. Holmes, Sr., Esq.
GIBBS & HOLMES
Suite 110, 171 Church Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: 843-722-0033

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Natalie J. Moore, Esq.
Office of General Counsel
955 Park Street, Suite 343
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: 803-737-1252

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

Statements of the Issues on Appeal.

I. Did the South Carolina Employee Grievance Act Provide the Appellant with a Property Interest in Continued Employment?

II. Did the Agency Terminate the Appellant's Employment in Violation of Due Process of Law by Failing to Provide Him with a Constitutionally Adequate Post-termination Hearing?

Statement of the Case

Moshtaba Vedad, a civil engineer with a Bachelor of Science from The Citadel, was employed by the Department of Transportation for more than 27 years. Final Decision of State Employee Grievance Committee. R. p. 9. His employment was suspended and terminated. He was terminated effective June 2, 2010. *Id.* The basis for both his suspension and termination is the Agency's contention that he misused the Agency vehicle assigned to him and kept improper records of his vehicle use. *Id.* R. pp. 12, 15. Appellant denied engaging in misconduct. *Id.* R. pp. 12, 14. He timely invoked all his appellate rights, and after an appellate hearing on March 1, 2011, The State Employee Grievance Committee issued its March 21, 2011, decision affirming both his suspension and termination. A copy of this decision is made a part of the Record on Appeal. R. pp. 9-15. A timely appeal was taken to the Administrative Law Court, and that Court affirmed the decision of the Employee Grievance Committee by Order of August 13, 2012. A copy of this Order is made a part of the Record on Appeal. R. pp. 2-8. Notice of Appeal to this Court was filed and served on September 6, 2012. R. pp. 16-17. Appellant contends that his termination violated due process of law because it is in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; in excess of the statutory authority of

the agency; made upon unlawful procedure; affected by other error of law; clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or arbitrary or capricious, or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. This contention is based upon the procedure followed by the Department in Transportation in effecting the Appellant's termination. The record is uncontroverted that the Appellant was suspended and terminated after a summary meeting with representatives of the Agency who accused him of misconduct. See, R. pp. 19-24. This was the type of pre-termination hearing anticipated by *Cleveland Bd. of Education v. Loudermill*, 470 U.S. 532, 542-43, 84 L. Ed. 2d 494, 105 S. Ct. 1487 (1985). However, Mr. Vedad contends that lawful use of a summary pre-termination procedure requires the opportunity for a post-termination hearing with a full panoply of due process protections. *Loudermill* at 546-47; see, also, *Sutton v. Cleveland Bd. of Education*, 958 F.2d 1339, 1349-50 (6th Cir. 1992). "The severity of depriving a person of the means of livelihood requires that such person have at least one opportunity for such a full hearing, so that he may challenge the factual basis for the state's action and may provide reasons why that action should not be taken." *Sutton*, 958 F.2d at 1549-50. Mr. Vedad's post-termination hearing gave him no such opportunity. No witnesses appeared. No testimony was taken. No opportunity for cross examination was provided. No oath was administered. See, R p. 25, line 24 – p. 30, line 2; p. 48, line 12 to p. 51, line 5; p. 52, line 14 – p. 53, line 20.

When this proceeding was described to counsel for the State Employee Grievance Committee, he guessed it to be a "mediation." R p. 49, lines 12 – 16:

MR. GANJEHSANI: Wait a minute. Stop. Are we talking about a mediation?

MS. MOORE: No. We have a bifurcated proceeding like I think most state agencies –
MR. GANJEHSANI: Okay.
MS. MOORE: --where it's a non-confrontational . . .

The Appellant raised the issue of the unconstitutionality of the Agency procedure but the State Employee Grievance Committee failed to cogently address it. The Committee's Decision evidences its misunderstanding of the relevant law. March 21, 2011, Final Decision, R. p. 15:

Appellant claimed his due process rights were violated by being deprived of an evidentiary hearing or similar opportunity to cross-examine the SCDOT employees who participated in the decision to discipline him until after he appealed his suspension/termination to the Committee. However, it is well settled that "a full evidentiary hearing is not required prior to termination" of a public employee. *Ross v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 328 S.C. 51, 66, 492 S.E. 2d 62, 70 (1997). Accordingly, the Committee finds Appellant's argument on this issue unavailing.

The August 13, 2012, Order of the Honorable Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge, affirms the decision of the State Employee Grievance Committee. Relying upon *Newton v. S.C. Dept. of Public Safety*, No. 6:10-01781, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107828, *9 n.1, 2011 WL 4435761 (D.S.C. Sept. 23, 2011), Her Honor found that the South Carolina statutory procedure for appeals of state employee disciplinary actions does not establish a property right for state employees. Order of Administrative Law Court, R. pp. 5-6. Her Honor went on to hold that even if Mr. Vedad had a property interest in his continued employment, the appellate hearing before the State Employee Grievance Committee provided him with adequate due process. *Id.* R. pp. 6-7.

Argument

I. **The State Employee Grievance Act creates a property interest on the part of covered South Carolina public employees, including Mr. Vedad.** The case of *Detweiller v. Virginia Dept. of Rehabilitative Services*, 705 F.2d 557 (4th Cir. 1983) (considering Virginia public employee grievance law) is on all fours with the case of Mr. Vedad. *Detweiller* explicates the particular aspects of a state employee grievance procedure which give rise to a property interest in an employee's continued employment. 705 F.2d at 560:

The statute's distinction between probationary employees and nonprobationary employees, its distinction between disciplinary discharges and discharges for reduction in work force, the Standards' specifications of the breaches of discipline for which an employee may be discharged, and the authority conferred on an impartial panel to reverse the agency's decision and to order reinstatement with back pay establish that a nonprobationary employee has a property interest in continued employment that is created by the state.

There is no material difference between the Virginia statutory scheme and that which exists in South Carolina. In South Carolina, a "Covered Employee" must have completed the "probationary period" of employment. Section 8-17-320(7) S.C. Code of Laws (1976), as amended. In the case of Mr. Vedad, specific standards have been promulgated by the Agency specifying the breaches of discipline for which he might be subjected to disciplinary discharge. These are identified within the S.C. Department of Transportation's "Disciplinary Action Policy." State Employee Grievance Committee's Exhibit One, R. pp. 55-62. These standards were applied to him. R. pp. 19-27 and Final Decision of State Employee Grievance Committee, R. pp. 12, 15. The State Employee Grievance Committee is an impartial panel with authority to reverse the Agency's decision and to order reinstatement with back pay. Section 8-17-340(E) S.C. Code of

Laws (1976), as amended. A failure of the Agency to comply with “its established personnel policies, procedures, and regulations” is a basis for reversing its decision. Section 8-17-340(E)(1)(b). There are differences between the standards applied to disciplinary discharges and discharges for reduction in work force. See, Section 8-17-330 S.C. Code of Laws (1976), as amended. “A reduction in force is an adverse employment action considered as a grievance only if the agency, or as an appeal if the State Human Resources Director, determines that there is a material issue of fact that the agency inconsistently or improperly applied its reduction in force policy or plan.” The Administrative Law Court is specifically charged with review of the final decision of the Committee. The disciplinary standards are a product of Section 8-11-230(6) S.C. Code of Laws (1976), as amended, which requires the Budget and Control Board and the State Personnel Division to “[a]fter coordination with agencies served, develop policies and programs concerning leave with or without pay, hours of work, fringe benefits (except State retirement benefits), employee/management relations, performance appraisals, grievance procedures, employee awards, dual employment, **disciplinary action, separations, reductions in force, and other conditions of employment as may be needed.**” (emphasis added). The statutory and regulatory scheme underlying Mr. Vedad’s appeal is indistinguishable from that recognized as creating a property right in *Detweiller*.

Moreover, the standards for review of employee terminations by the State Employee Grievance Committee are only consistent with the existence of a property interest. If Mr. Vedad’s employment is “at will,” his termination could never be “arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an unwarranted exercise of discretion.” 18-17-340(E)(2)(f). “At will” employment may be terminated with or without cause or

reason, and with or without notice. Such a termination may be “arbitrary” and “irrational.” *Ludwick v. This Minute of Carolina, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 219, 223-224, 337 S.E.2d 213, 215 (1985). By definition, such a termination could not be unlawfully “arbitrary” or “capricious” or be characterized by an “unwarranted exercise of discretion.” Similarly, 18-17-340(E)(2)(e) allows reversal of the Committee’s decision on a showing that it is “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” In the context of disciplinary terminations, these grounds for appeal can only mean that the Agency has to make some showing of good cause. This is all that is required to create a property interest.

Our Supreme Court has held that a public employer’s regulatory scheme may create a property right on the part of a public employee to continued employment. *Connor v. City of Forest Acres*, 348 S.C. 454, 560 S.E. 2d 606 (2002). In *Connor*, the employee claimed to rely upon disciplinary procedures in the employer’s handbook. Despite an “at will” disclaimer, the Supreme Court found that whether a contract existed requiring cause for termination had to be submitted to the jury. 348 S.C. at 462-64, 560 S.E.2d at 610-11.

The footnote from *Newton v. S.C. Dept. of Public Safety, supra*, is the only authority cited by the Administrative Law Judge in support of the conclusion that the South Carolina Employee Grievance Act does not create a property interest in continued employment. That footnote is neither persuasive nor binding. In *Newton*, the plaintiff entered into a contract involving his resignation. He conceded his at-will status, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107828 at *8. Consequently, any further discussion of this issue within *Newton* is *dicta*. However, in the cited footnote, *Newton* notes that the plaintiff might

have filed a grievance under the State Employee Grievance Act, but then cites *Bunting v. City of Columbia*, 639 F.2d 1090 (4th Cir. 1981), for the proposition that “such grievance rights do not establish a property interest in employment.” *Id.* at *9, n.1.

Newton misreads *Bunting*. Mr. Bunting was a City of Columbia police officer who served at the pleasure of the City. Consequently, he had no property interest in continued employment which required due process protection. *Bunting v. City of Columbia*, 639 F.2d 1090, 1094 (4th Cir. 1981).

For the foregoing reasons, the Administrative Law Court erred in holding that the South Carolina State Employee Grievance Act does not create a property interest in continued employment.

II. The Administrative Law Court misapprehended the requirements of due process. Confrontation of witnesses and testimony under oath are required elements of post-termination hearings. The Constitution of the United States allows a public employer to terminate a public employee from his or her employment with less than a full-blown due process hearing provided minimal requirements of due process precede the termination. *Cleveland Bd. of Education v. Loudermill*, 470 U.S. 532, 542-43, 84 L. Ed. 2d 494, 105 S. Ct. 1487 (1985). However, in such a case, summary suspension or termination must be followed by a post-termination or suspension hearing which comports with due process. The constitutionality of a bare-bones pre-termination hearing is dependent on the existence of a full-blown post-termination hearing. *Loudermill* at 546-47; see, also, *Sutton v. Cleveland Bd. of Education*, 958 F.2d 1339, 1349-50 (6th Cir. 1992). “The severity of depriving a person of the means of livelihood requires that such person have at least one opportunity for such a full hearing, so that he

may challenge the factual basis for the state's action and may provide reasons why that action should not be taken.” *Sutton*, 958 F.2d at 1549-50.

In the case of Mr. Vedad, there was no full, post-termination hearing. Rather, there was a “conference.” No evidence was presented on behalf of the Agency, no testimony was taken, no investigation was conducted, and no facts were found. No witnesses were sworn. Indeed, no witnesses appeared in the presence of Mr. Vedad. Needless to say, there was no opportunity for cross-examination or any record of a proceeding upon which a trier of fact might make findings of credibility and fact. Rather, the person designated as the Department’s Representative at the conference simply followed the conference with a letter stating that “the Department acted within its policies and procedures for your client’s termination.” There was no explanation from the person designated to have the conference as to what, if anything, was to be addressed.

The subsequent hearing before the State Employee Grievance Committee was not an adequate post-*Loudermill* proceeding. The Employee Grievance Committee procedure is constrained by statute to review findings of fact under the equivalent of an “appellate” standard. In other words, the statutory scheme presupposes the correctness of the Agency’s findings. This may not be permitted unless those findings meet both the pre- and post-termination due process requirements of *Loudermill*. *Sutton v. Cleveland Bd. of Education, supra*.

However, the Employee Grievance Committee could have provided relief to Mr. Vedad by reversing the decision of the Agency on account of: its violation of constitutional and statutory provisions; its actions in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; its findings made upon unlawful procedure; its failures to comply with the

law; and on account of its arbitrariness and capriciousness. All of these stemmed from the Agency's failure to follow procedure and to provide Mr. Vedad with due process of law. All of these deficiencies were explicitly raised before the Employee Grievance Committee. See, for example, January 4, 2011, letter to State Employee Grievance Committee through Office of Human Resources from Allan R. Holmes.

The Committee's citation to *Ross v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 328 S.C. 51, 66, 492 S.E. 2d 62, 70 (1997), is ironic. Reading one page further in the *Ross* opinion one finds unequivocal support for Appellant Vedad's position --- a summary pre-termination hearing requires a post-termination hearing that affords the employee with "full and meaningful participation." *Ross v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 328 S.C. 51, 67, 492 S.E. 2d 62, 71 (1997):

Nonetheless, although the pretermination procedures afforded Dr. Ross did not comply with minimum due process requirements, the error was remedied by the subsequent Committee hearing. Dr. Ross received notice of a post-termination hearing, a written list of specific charges against him, and references to the sections in the faculty handbook and South Carolina Code his conduct was alleged to have violated. The hearing as originally scheduled was postponed at Dr. Ross' request. Thereafter, while represented by counsel, Dr. Ross fully participated in the seven-day hearing. He presented his own witnesses and evidence and cross-examined MUSC's witnesses. Any lack of opportunity to respond to charges in a pretermination hearing was clearly remedied by Dr. Ross' full and meaningful participation in the post-termination hearing. *Glenn v. Newman*, 614 F.2d 467 (5th Cir. 1980)(any error in pretermination hearing cured by subsequent hearing); *Agarwal v. Regents of University of Minnesota*, 788 F.2d 504 (8th Cir. 1986)(even if employee did not receive all procedural safeguards during initial proceeding, his right to due process was not violated due to later hearing); *McKinney v. Pate*, 20 F.3d 1550 (11th Cir. 1994)(state may cure procedural deprivation of due process rights by providing later procedural remedy); *Jones v. Chatham County*, 223 Ga. App. 455, 477 S.E.2d 889 (1996)(available post-termination procedures cured employer's failure to have pretermination hearing).

Dr. Ross's rights of cross-examination and confrontation must be contrasted with the complete absence of any similar rights in the "bifurcated", "non-confrontational", dual venue "conference" provided Appellant Vedad.

The "full evidentiary" post-termination hearing required by *Loudermill* includes the right of the discharged employee to cross examine witnesses even where the facts giving rise to discharge are undisputed. *Garraghty v. Virginia, Dep't of Corrections*, 52 F.3d 1274, 1282-1283 (4th Cir. 1995). See, also, *Langley v. Adams Co., Colo.*, 987 F.2d 1473, 1480-1481 (10th Cir. 1993) (affirming denial of qualified immunity to officer who terminated plaintiff and officer who affirmed termination because no opportunity for post-termination hearing that included right to confront and examine witnesses). Consequently, there is no question but that the Agency's procedures do not comport with the requirements of *Loudermill*.

Essentially, the Administrative Law Court has ruled that the South Carolina legislature's provision of the State Employee Grievance Committee hearing satisfies the need for a full fledged post termination hearing. This ruling is incorrect. Insofar as the Administrative Law Court contends that the Agency procedure prior to the State Employee Grievance Committee was constitutionally adequate, the ruling is incorrect as shown by *Garraghty*. Also, insofar as the Administrative Law Court holds the "fact finding" standard utilized by the State Employee Grievance Committee is adequate --- an appellate standard --- that holding is erroneous. Even burden shifting has been found to violate due process in this context. A Missouri case addresses this very issue. *Cole v. Litz*, 562 S.W.2d 795 (Mo. App. 1978). In *Cole*, the public employee was dismissed by his agency and sought a hearing before the Civil Service Commission. The Commission

in *Cole* merely shifted the burden of proof, but the *Cole* opinion nonetheless found this to violate Due Process. 562 S.W.2d at 797-798:

Under the heading “Conclusions of Law and Decision”, the commission noted that, according to its own rule, its policy is to support appointing authorities in requiring efficient service from merit system employees. The commission then stated:

“It is tempting for the Commission in a case of this character to substitute our judgment for that of the responsible party.

“Although we are sympathetic with Appellant we are compelled to conclude that the judgment of the Department must be upheld. To hold otherwise would be to substitute the judgment of the Commission for that of the appointing authority and we do not feel that we should do that in the absence of some compelling evidence that the judgment of the appointing authority was unsound or improperly motivated. There is no such evidence here.”

Thus, by the terms of the commission's decision, Mrs. Cole could not have prevailed unless there appeared “compelling evidence that the judgment of the appointing authority was unsound or improperly motivated . . .” even though the commission found the independent exercise of judgment “tempting”. The appointing authority was entitled to no such position of evidentiary advantage; evidence presented by the department did not, simply by virtue of its source, deserve more credit than that presented by the appellant.

A similar situation appeared in *Heidebur v. Parker*, 505 S.W.2d 440 (Mo. App. 1974) in which a police officer demanded a hearing before the board of police commissioners after the superintendent of police ordered his dismissal. Under a board rule, a dismissed officer was required to open and close the hearing. The officer argued that the rule unfairly shifted the burden of proof; and this court, speaking through Judge McMillian, agreed. The following appears at page 444:

“In the instant case the evidence is undisputed that plaintiff was discharged by the Superintendent based not upon a hearing, but only upon an Inspector's Report. His first evidentiary hearing, although styled an appeal, was before the Board. It was at this hearing that pursuant to the Board's procedure that defendant was required to put on his proof that he had not violated any of the department regulations contained in the Code of Discipline and Ethics. In other words, defendant had the burden of proving that his discharge was improper. Here what is styled by the Board

as an appeal, is, in fact, even from a cursory reading of the transcript a de novo hearing of the entire controversy. Thus, since the Board hearing was the first evidentiary hearing of an adversary nature, we hold that the Superintendent has the burden of proof and should have been required to put on his case first; . . . It is only fair since the Superintendent filed the charges that he be required to prove them before ordering plaintiff's discharge."

The court then concluded that the procedure dictated by the rule "failed to afford plaintiff due process."

In the instant case, it is clear that the department undertook the burden of proof by going forward with the evidence. The problem arises here in the commission's own concept of its function and its refusal to "substitute" its "judgment" for that of the appointing authority. The commission was the finder of fact and the arbiter of disciplinary measures to be imposed, if any. It could not abdicate that responsibility. By requiring appellant to come forward with compelling evidence of her innocence of the charges, it unfairly shifted the burden of proof, thus failing to afford appellant due process. *Heidebur, supra*.

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