THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-212952

RECEIVED
MAY 02 2013
SC Court of Appeals

Moshtaba VedadAppellant

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Natalie J. Moore
SC Bar No. 4058
South Carolina Department of Transportation
P.O. Box 191
Columbia, SC 29201
803/737-1252
moorenj@scdot.org

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Appellant's due process rights were not violated on the ground that he was not allowed to cross-examine and present witnesses at a hearing before his employer.**

Appellant raises only one issue in this appeal. It is one of procedure, not substance. His only argument is that he should be reinstated to his former position on the ground that he was not given the opportunity to present and cross-examine witnesses at a hearing *before his employer* after he was terminated. He raises no challenge to the merits of the State Employee Grievance Committee's findings that he used his Agency vehicle for personal use.

Appellant relies on *Cleveland Board of Education v. Loudermill*, 470 U.S. 532, 84 L. Ed.2d 494, 105 S. Ct. 1487 (1985), to support his argument that he should be reinstated to his former position because he was denied due process by not being allowed to present and cross-examine witnesses before SCDOT. In *Loudermill*, the Supreme Court held that if an employee had a property right in his continued employment, he was entitled to certain due process rights in the termination of such employment. The property right that was recognized there arose from an Ohio statute that classified the employees as civil service employees, who were entitled to retain their positions during good behavior and efficient service, and who could not be dismissed except for misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance in office. *Id.* at 538. *Loudermill* held that where

there is such a property right, employees were entitled to both a pretermination opportunity to respond, coupled with post-termination administrative procedures. *Id.* at 547-548. *Loudermill* states that “property interests are not created by the Constitution, they are created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law.” *Id.* at 538. There is no comparable language in the South Carolina statutes to that of Ohio, upon which *Loudermill* relied, which would give rise to a protectible property right.

Appellant also relies on *Detweiler v. Virginia Dept. of Rehabilitative Services*, 705 F.2d 557 (4th Cir. 1983), which predates *Loudermill*, to support his argument that the “South Carolina State Employee Grievance Act creates a property interest on the part of covered South Carolina public employee.” Brief of Appellant at 5. However, *Detweiler* is an interpretation of an employee’s rights under the laws of the State of Virginia, not those of South Carolina.

Appellant argues that the Virginia and South Carolina statutes are not materially different and give rise to a property right to his employment. However, he fails to consider the totality of the statutes and he cites to no supporting legal authority. As pointed out in the Administrative Law Judge’s Order, S.C. Code Ann. §8-17-330 provides that the Administrative Procedures Act (APA) applies to proceedings before the State Employee Grievance Committee, but not at other levels of the grievance process, which includes the employing agency level. Order at 5. And as the Order notes, it is the APA which gives rise to the right to present evidence (S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-320[e]) and to cross-examine the

witnesses (S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-330[3]). Hence, the statutory procedure established for appeals of State employee disciplinary actions does not support Appellant's position that he has a property right in his continued employment. Appellant's whole case rests on his argument that he should have been allowed to present and cross-examine witnesses at the agency (SCDOT) level. However, the statutory procedure created by the State Legislature does not require that he be allowed to do so.

Detweiler refers to the power of the State to define what is and what is not property. *Id.* at 558. As demonstrated, the statutes in South Carolina do not confer a property right in continued employment and the courts that have looked at this issue in the context of South Carolina law have consistently held that there is no property interest in the continued employment of a South Carolina State or public employee for purposes of the Due Process Clause. In *Bradley v. South Carolina Department of Corrections*, 2010 WL 883729 (D.S.C. 2010), Federal District Court Judge Joseph F. Anderson held that a State employee did not have a protected property interest in his employment. *Id.* at p. 15. Also in *Newton v. South Carolina Department of Public Safety*, 2011 WL 4435761 (D.S.C. 2011), Federal District Court Judge Michelle Childs found a State Highway Patrol Trooper's "employment was not a property interest for purposes of the Due Process Clause." *Id.* (p. 3). Further, in *Reed v. South Carolina State University*, 2010 WL 3730907 (D.S.C. 2010), District Court Judge Margaret Seymour found an employee of South Carolina State University failed to produce evidence that would support a finding that he was deprived of a protectible liberty or property

interest. *Id.* (p. 6). This issue has also been ruled upon with respect to other public employees in South Carolina, with the same conclusion having been reached. See, *Bunting v. City of Columbia*, 639 F.2d 1090 (4th Cir. 1981); *Beckham v. Harris*, 756 F.2d 1032 (4th Cir. 1985).

Citing *Conner v. City of Forest Acres*, 348 S.C. 454, 560 S.E.2d 606 (2002), Appellant states “(o)ur Supreme Court has held that a public employer’s regulatory scheme may create a property right on the part of a public employee to continued employment.” Brief of Appellant at 7. This is not a correct statement of the holding in *Conner*. That case concerned the issue of whether the existence of an employee handbook gave rise to a contract of employment. *Id.* at 610. *Conner* did not address the existence of a property right on the part of a public employee in the absence of such a contract.

Appellant also argues that the Administrative Law Judge’s citation of *Newton v. S.C. Dept. of Pub. Safety*, 2011 WL 4435761 (D.S.C. 2011), for the proposition that there is no property right in employment on the part of a public employee is not persuasive or binding since the employee in that case was a contractual employee. Brief of Appellant at 7. Appellant further challenges the reliance on *Newton* on the ground that it cites *Bunting v. City of Columbia*, 639 F.2d 1090 (4th Cir. 1981), which Appellant claims was misread by the *Newton* court since *Bunting* was an at will employee with no property interest. Brief of Appellant, p. 8. Appellant is unable to cite any opinions that do state that under the law in South Carolina a property right exists in continued employment.

- II. **Even if Appellant did have a property right in his continued employment, he was not denied due process since he was afforded an opportunity to present and cross-examine witnesses at his hearing before the State Employee Grievance Committee.**

The Administrative Law Judge found that even if Appellant did have such a property right in his continued employment, he was not denied due process. Order at 5. The case of *Sutton v. Cleveland Bd. of Education*, 958 F.2d 1339, (6th Cir. 1992), cited by Appellant in his Brief, pp. 8 and 9, is instructive on the issue of what process is due in the event the Court finds there is a property interest in the continued employment. Quoting *Loudermill*, the *Sutton* court states: "Once it is determined that the due process clause applies, we are then faced with the question of what process is due." *Id.* at 1349. *Sutton* states: due process requires, at a minimum, "that the discharged employee be permitted to attend the (post-termination) hearing, to have the assistance of counsel, to call witnesses and produce evidence on his own behalf, and to know and have an opportunity to challenge the evidence against him." *Id.* at 1350. The Court goes on to state the requirement that the "person have at least one opportunity for such a full hearing, so that he may challenge the factual basis for the state's action and may provide reasons why that action should not be taken." *Id.* Since Appellant was afforded all the opportunities set forth in *Sutton* at his hearing before the State Employee Grievance Committee, it is clear that such hearing comports with all legal requirements, thus providing him due process.

Appellant argues that the hearing before the "Committee was not an adequate post-*Loudermill* proceeding" because the "Committee procedure is

constrained by statute to review findings of fact under the equivalent of an 'appellate' standard" and that "the statutory scheme presupposes the correctness of the Agency's findings." Brief of Appellant, p. 9. However, Appellant fails to cite any authority requiring that the post-termination hearing must be *de novo*.

As Appellant points out on p. 9 of his Brief, the State Grievance Committee could have provided him relief by reversing the decision of the Agency. However, he failed to establish that the agency's decision was in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; made upon unlawful procedure; affected by other error of law; clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. §8-17-340(E)(2). Mr. Vedad has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced by the fact that his due process hearing was held in accordance with State law by the impartial partial State Grievance Committee panel, as opposed to before SCDOT.

Appellant characterizes the Administrative Law Judge's reliance on *Ross v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 328 S.C. 51, 492 S.E.2d 62 (1997), as "ironic" because he states that it contains unequivocal support for his position, that being his entitlement to rights of cross-examination and confrontation which he states was completely absent. Brief of Appellant, p. 10. This statement is inconsistent with his full participation in the hearing that was conducted before the State Employee Grievance Committee in which he exercised his statutory rights to present evidence and to conduct cross-examination of witnesses in

accordance with the State Grievance Procedure and State Administrative Procedures Acts. S.C. Code Ann. §8-17-310, *et seq.*, and S.C. Code Ann. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-310, *et seq.*, respectively.

Appellant cites *Garraghty v. Virginia Dept. of Corrections*, 52 F.3d 1274 (4th Cir. 1995) to support his argument that due process entitles him to a hearing before the Respondent, not before the State Employee Grievance Committee, as provided for under S.C. Code Ann. §8-17-310, *et seq.* However, *Garraghty*, which involved an employee of the Commonwealth of Virginia, a state where the Courts have ruled there *is* a protected property right in employment, does not support Appellant's position. *Garraghty*, a warden with the Virginia Corrections Department, appealed his discharge for sexual harassment and, unlike Mr. Vedad, was *never* given an opportunity at any stage to confront and cross-examine any witnesses. Mr. Vedad was given that opportunity before the State Grievance Committee. Also unlike Mr. Vedad, who is arguing in favor of a full due process hearing before *his employing agency*, which is not provided for in the statutory scheme, Mr. *Garraghty* argued that he was entitled to a hearing before *the impartial grievance panel* set up under Virginia law. That aspect of Virginia law is in concert with the appeal procedure of the South Carolina State Employee Grievance Procedure Act, S.C. Code Ann. §8-17-310, *et seq.*

Appellant also cites *Langley v. Adams Co. Colo.*, 987 F.2d 1473 (10th Cir. 1993), a decision under Colorado law, also a jurisdiction which has ruled there is a property right in continued employment. *Langley* emphasizes the requirement of a hearing before an impartial tribunal, *id.* at 1480, which is provided for under

the South Carolina State Grievance Procedure Act, which Appellant argues against.

Lastly Appellant quotes a lengthy excerpt from a Missouri state court, *Cole v. Litz*, 562 S.W.2d 795 (Mo. App. 1978), a decision predating *Loudermill*, that found in favor of a discharged employee on the ground that she should not have had the burden of proof under Missouri law. As previously stated, it was Mr. Vedad's burden under South Carolina law to establish that the agency's decision was in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; made upon unlawful procedure; affected by other error of law; clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. §8-17-340(E)(2). Appellant did not carry this burden.

III. If there had been a violation of Appellant's due process rights, reinstating him to his former position would not be the proper remedy where there is no challenge to the correctness of the State Employee Grievance Committee's Decision.

Appellant submits that this Court should reverse the Final Decision of the State Employee Grievance Committee and reinstate him to his former position of employment with backpay. Brief of Appellant, p. 14, "Conclusion." However, there has been no basis advanced upon which he should be reinstated and this remedy is clearly not in accordance with *Loudermill*. After finding that the due process rights of the employees were violated in *Loudermill*, the Supreme Court did not order reinstatement to employment, rather the case was remanded for further proceedings consistent with the opinion.

In order to prevail before the State Employee Grievance Committee, Appellant is required to show under S.C. Code Ann. §8-17-340(E)(2) that he suffered substantial prejudice to his rights and that the Agency's decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.